**FILED**

FEB -6 2014

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 89867-7  
Court of Appeals No. 69413-8-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JACKSON J. MIKA

Plaintiff/Respondent/Petitioner

RECEIVED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION ONE  
JAN 22 2014

v.

JBC ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS, INC., a Corporation  
doing business in the State of Washington, JBC OF SEATTLE, WA,  
INC., a Washington business, a subsidiary of JBC  
ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS, INC.; MARQUIS HOLMS, an  
individual d/b/a BOSS LIFE ENTERTAINMENT, JANE DOE,  
husband and wife, and their community, GREG STEVENS, an  
individual, Husband and wife, and their community;

## **I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Jackson Mika, Respondent/Petitioner, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

## **II. DECISION BELOW**

Review is sought of the following unpublished decision of the Division Two of the Court of Appeals: *Mika v. Stevens, et al.*, Docket No. 69413-8-I (December 23, 2013). A copy of the decision is in the attached Appendix A.

## **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Whether an appellate court may treat arguments raised at the trial court but not reasserted at the appellate court as waived when reviewing a case under the *de novo* standard of review?

Whether the record established a *prima facie* case of jurisdiction over Defendant Mr. Gregory Stevens?

## **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. INTRODUCTION**

This case involves two primary questions. One relates to the application of the *de novo* standard of review. The other to whether or not Mr. Stevens met his burden on summary judgment.

Mr. Jackson Mika sued Mr. Stevens, among others, as a result of injuries he sustained while at the nightclub Jillians in Seattle. Insofar as relates to this petition, Mr. Stevens moved for summary judgment claiming that Washington courts lacked jurisdiction over him. The trial court denied his motion and Mr. Stevens sought discretionary review in the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and dismissed Mr. Mika's claims against Mr. Stevens.

The Court of Appeals erred in two significant ways. First, it failed to engage in a *de novo* review of the trial court when it claimed that Mr. Mika waived arguments he made at the trial court but did not reassert at the appellate court in his briefing. There is no authority for this proposition either in the Rules of Appellate Procedure or in the decisional law of the State of Washington. This court should accept review of this case and address this practice.

Second, the Court of Appeals simply erred on the record before it. Mr. Stevens clearly stated that he had been to Washington State at least 6 times in a 10 year period. CP 97. However, he does not explain why he was in the state. As the moving party, Mr. Stevens failed to meet his burden. This also serves as a basis for this court to accept review.

## **B. FACTS**

On March 21, 2010, Mr. Mika was injured while he was a patron at Jillian's night club in Seattle, Washington. He was shot. Mr. Mika has suffered severe personal injuries as a result. Mr. Mika filed suit against JBC Entertainment Holdings ("JBC") and its owners, Gemini Investors ("Gemini"), Alpha Capital Partners, LTD ("Alpha") and Mr. Greg Stevens. Mr. Stevens was also the majority owner, chief financial officer, and chief executive officer of JBC. Mr. Mika sued other defendants who are not a part of this appeal.

In May 2012, Mr. Stevens moved for summary judgment claiming a lack of personal jurisdiction in Washington State. Mr. Stevens claimed the following:

1. In March 2010, Mr. Stevens claimed to live in Kentucky. CP 97.
2. Mr. Stevens now lives in Nevada. CP 97.
3. He stated he had not lived in Washington. CP 97.
4. He stated he had not maintained an office or mailing address in Washington. CP 97.
5. He stated he did not possess a bank account or any other personal or real property in Washington State. CP 97.
6. He stated that he had travelled to Washington state approximately six times in the last decade. CP 97. Notably, Mr. Stevens does not explain what he did do in Washington State during these visits. CP 97.

7. He stated that JBC of Seattle, not JBC Holdings was responsible for the control and operation of Jillians. CP 97.
8. He stated that he was responsible for the company's overall profitability, not the day-to-day operations of the subsidiary companies. CP 97.
9. He stated that he had no hiring or firing authority for employees at subsidiary companies, nor was he responsible for the policies and procedures in place at Jillians'.

The trial court denied the motion. CP 505. Mr. Stevens' filed a petition for discretionary review with Division One of the Court of Appeals claiming probable error under RAP 2.3(b)(2). In early 2013, the Court of Appeals accepted review.

On December 23, 2013, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and dismissed the case against Mr. Stevens. The Court of Appeals decision focused heavily on Mr. Mika's argument in his response brief as the basis for the reversal. The court stated:

However, the full argument advanced in Mika's response brief is that the new evidence obtained after Stevens filed his motion for discretionary review, but a month prior to this court granted review warrants a remand to the trial court to allow additional motion practice.

Slip Op. p 8-9. This new evidence related to the sale of JBC of Seattle to Gameworks while Mr. Mika's suit was pending. *Id.*

At oral argument, Mika emphasized that Stevens had testified in his deposition that security at Jillian's was not

necessary, suggesting Stevens admitted having a role in setting the security policy and thus constituting a basis for long arm jurisdiction based on tortious conduct. **Even if we were to consider this argument, which is not argued in Mika's response brief**, the record on appeal does not include the portion of the deposition in which Stevens initially made such a statement, so we are unable to examine the context of such a statement. The record before us reflects only that Stevens testified he did not believe the video surveillance was necessary. Stevens's counsel asked Stevens at the end of the deposition to clarify whether he thought other security measures were necessary and Stevens responded that the overall safety of the patrons at Jillian's was important. Given Steven's unrebutted testimony that in no responsibility for creating or implementing any of the safety policies or procedures, Stevens's comment on security policies do not create a genuine issue of material fact that he committed tortious conduct the subjecting himself to personal jurisdiction under the long arm statute.

(Emphasis added.) Slip Op. p. 10.

The court's statement that "even if we were to consider the argument" was error—the standard of review is *de novo* which requires that Mr. Stevens had to prove that there was not genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not personal jurisdiction existed. If and when he did that, then and only then, the burden shifted to Mr. Mika. The *de novo* standard of review is not an analysis of whether Mr. Mika submitted the proper argument in his appellate briefing but rather what was presented to the trial court. As is shown below, this Court should accept review of this case and rule on whether or not the Court of Appeals' practice of treating

arguments made at the trial court and not reasserted at the Court of Appeals as waived on cases involving the *de novo* standard of review.

#### **V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

RAP 13.4(b) governs petitions for review to this Court and sets forth the following considerations for review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

As is shown below, there is a practice, largely within unpublished decisions from the Court of Appeals, where the Rules of Appellate procedure are used to reduce review under a *de novo* standard of review. This practice is not authorized by the RAP nor by the decisional law of this state. The issues presented in this case involve all the standard set forth at RAP 13.4(b)(4).

**A. THE *DE NOVO* STANDARD OF REVIEW  
REQUIRES A FULL REVIEW OF THE TRIAL  
COURT RECORD IRRESPECTIVE OF THE  
BRIEFING AT THE APPELLATE COURT**

Under the *de novo* standard of review, the Court of Appeals engages in the same inquiry as the trial court and views the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, here Mr. Mika. *Roger Crane & Assoc., Inc., v. Felice*, 74 Wn. App. 769, 773, 875 P.2d 705 (1994). A reviewing court, on appeal, considers only such evidence as was admitted in the trial court. *Casco Co. v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Thurston County*, 37 Wn.2d 777, 784, 226 P.2d 235 (1951). The Court of Appeals must also give the plaintiff the benefit of all reasonable inferences from the evidence presented. *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 907, 915, 32 P.3d 250 (2001). Further, *de novo* review involves an analysis of the application of the law by the trial court to the facts in the record. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) (*de novo* review is limited to the legal conclusions the trial court drew from its findings of fact).

If the moving party does not meet their initial burden on summary judgment, a responding party need not respond at the trial court level. "If the moving party does not sustain ... [its]

burden, summary judgment should not be entered, irrespective of whether the nonmoving party has submitted affidavits or other materials.” *Jacobsen v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108-09, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977), *overruled on other grounds*, *Peeples v. Port of Bellingham*, 93 Wn.3d 766, 613 P.3d 1128 (1980). “If the moving party does not meet this initial burden, summary judgment may not be entered, regardless of whether the opposing party submitted responding materials.” *White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., P.S.*, 61 Wn. App. 163, 170, 810 P.2d 4 (1991).

The same should be true in the appellate court and in fact is. If a party chooses not to file a brief, then he or she only loses the right to oral argument. RAP 11.2(a). While admittedly a risky practice, the law does not require the filing of a brief. WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK, ¶19.18 (Wash. State Bar Assoc. 3d ed. 2005). In theory, the non-moving party on a summary judgment motion could fail to respond at the trial court and at the appellate court and still survive. This is because the burden placed on the appellant remains unchanged under a *de novo* standard of review irrespective of which court they are in.

What is happening is that the Court of Appeals is using RAP 12.1 as a basis for effectively limiting the record on appeal and thus, minimizing the *de novo* standard of review. The rule states:

- (a) Generally. Except as provided in section (b), the appellate court will decide a case only on the basis of issues set forth by the parties in their briefs.
- (b) Issues Raised by the Court. If the appellate court concludes that an issue which is not set forth in the briefs should be considered to properly decide a case, the court may notify the parties and give them an opportunity to present written argument on the issue raised by the court.

(Emphasis added.) RAP 12.1. The issue before the Court of Appeals here was whether or not jurisdiction existed over Mr. Stevens. This issue was raised in briefing at the Court of Appeals and at the trial court. What the Court of Appeals is taking issue with was the facts and legal arguments on which Mr. Mika focused. However, his focus in his brief does not alter the record or the *de novo* standard of review imposed upon the Court of Appeals in this case.

The Court of Appeals practice in treating arguments as waived (including assertion of certain facts) not made in an appellate brief but at the trial court is not envisioned by RAP 12.1 and does not comport with a *de novo* standard of review. RAP 12.1 addresses issues, not arguments relating to those issues. In *Gould*

*v. Im*, No 48098-8-II, an unpublished opinion from Division Two,<sup>1</sup>  
Judge Quinn-Brintall, in her concurring/dissenting opinion identifies  
the problem:

Because *Im* fails to reraise this argument in his appellant's brief, the majority considers this issue waived. But because the trial court clearly misapplied the law in this case, I would invoke this court's inherent authority to consider issues briefed and presented to the trial court and to decide the appeal on that issue.[9] *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn.2d 736, 740-41, 975 P.2d 512 (1999); *State v. Carter*, 138 Wn.App. 350, 368, 157 P.3d 420 (2007); RAP 12.1(b). Here, the record clearly reflects that Gould presented no evidence that *Im* knew the Goulds were real estate speculators and intended to improve and immediately sell the house. The record further reflects that the trial court was presented with, and summarily rejected, the correct amount-lost rental value-of damages Gould should have received for *Im*'s breach. In my view, the trial court simply misapplied Washington law regarding the proper method of calculating damages and awarded Gould an unwarranted windfall. Neither the common law, including 150 years worth of decisions affirming Hadley, nor Washington law, as seen in *Thompson*, support such an award. In these circumstances, I do not believe this court must turn a blind eye to the law and refuse to correct an obvious error. The measure of damages is a question of law which we should review and correct when our review of the record reveals error. *See, e.g., Farmer v. Farmer*, 172 Wn.2d 616, 625, 259 P.3d 256 (2011). Accordingly, I would affirm the reformation of the well maintenance agreement but I would remand to the trial court for recalculation of damages under the proper lost rental value formula.

---

---

<sup>1</sup> *Gould v. Im*, is not cited as authority for any proposition of law. Rather, it is provided to this court to identify a practice ongoing in unpublished opinions in this State and to point out that at least one Washington Judge has identified the issue. GR 14.1.

[9] I note also that Im's appellate briefing argues that the damage award was impermissibly speculative and that the collapse of the housing market was unforeseeable by the parties. Although these arguments are not well formulated or conceived-e.g. Im focuses on whether damages would have been foreseeable.

*Gould v. Im*, Appendix B.

Additionally, RAP 12.1 does not contain any language similar to that contained in RAP 10.3(g) relating to assignments of error. There, the rule states in relevant part: "The appellate court will only review a claimed error which his included in an assignment of error or clearly disclosed in the associated issue pertaining thereto." RAP 12.1 contains no similar warning regarding arguments presented at the trial court and not reasserted at the appellate court.

Further, the present case involves a summary judgment motion which is subject to RAP 9.12<sup>2</sup> which also states that only issues raised before the trial court are properly before the appellate court. However, there are some exceptions. This Court has stated that specific statutes not presented to the trial court but which are in

---

<sup>2</sup> The rule states: The argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record. The argument may be preceded by a summary. The court ordinarily encourages a concise statement of the standard of review as to each issue.

the same statutory scheme as those which were presented are properly before the appellate court.

The other issue which defendant maintains was not raised below and therefore is not properly before this Court is plaintiffs' argument that RCW 49.44.090 and RCW Ch. 49.60 create separate and distinct causes of action. The record does not reveal any specific request by plaintiffs that the court consider the statutes independently from one another. In fact, no mention of RCW 49.40 4.090 is found in plaintiffs' memorandum opposing summary judgment. However, a statute not addressed below but pertinent to the substantive issues which were raised below may be considered for the first time on appeal. *State v. Fagalde*, 85 Wash. 2d 730, 732, 539 P.2d 86 (1975). Both RCW 49.44.090 and RCW Ch. 49.60 relate to discriminatory practices in employment. Therefore it is both appropriate and necessary for this court to consider these two obviously related statutes in determining whether plaintiffs' cause of action exists.

*Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wash. 2d 912, 918, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990).

Further, when the right to maintain the action is at issue, like here, new issues can be raised at the appellate court level even if not raised at the trial court level.

Moreover, we recognize another exception to the general rule and have considered issues not raised below quote when the question raise affects the right to maintain the action." *Maynard Inv. Co., Inc. v. McCann*, 77 Wash. 2d 616, 621, 465 P.2d 657 (1970). *New Meadows Holding Co. v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 102 Wash. 2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984). The central issue of this case is Plaintiff's right to maintain their action. Under this exception consideration of RCW 49.44.090 is appropriate.

*Bennett*, 113 Wn.2d at 918.

The same should be true at the appellate court level as it is engaging in a *de novo* review of what the trial court did *i.e.*, that the failure to reassert an argument in a brief presented to an appellate court reviewing a matter under the *de novo* standard of review is not fatal to those arguments if they are presented to the trial court. In short, what is good for the trial court, should be good for the appellate court.

**B. CONSIDERING THE ENTIRE RECORD, MR. STEVENS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

As the moving party, Mr. Stevens was required to show that no genuine issues of material fact existed as to his claim that Washington courts lacked jurisdiction over him. As is shown below, he failed to do that.

There are two types of personal jurisdiction: general and specific. *Washington Equipment Mfg. Co. Inc., v. Concrete Placing Co. Inc.*, 85 Wn. App. 240, 244, 931 P.2d 170 (1997). General jurisdiction allows a non-resident defendant to be sued in Washington for any claim when “the defendant’s actions in the state are so substantial and continuous that justice allows the exercise of jurisdiction even for claims not arising from the defendant’s

contacts within the state." *Raymond v. Robinson*, 104 Wn. App. 627, 633, 15 P.3d 697 (2001).

Specific jurisdiction, on the other hand, is act specific, and is governed by Washington's "long-arm statute," which provides in pertinent part:

(1) Any person, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in person or through an agent does any of the acts in this section enumerated, thereby submits...to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any cause of action arising from the doing of any of said acts:

(a) The transaction of any business within this state;

(b) The commission of a tortious act within this state;....

RCW 4.28.185(1).

Even if RCW 4.28.185(1)(a) or (b) is facially satisfied, the exercise of personal jurisdiction must comport with due process. "The Due Process Clause 'does not contemplate that a state may make binding a judgment...against an individual or corporate defendant with which the state has no contacts, ties, or relations.'" *Shaffer v. Heitner*, 433 U.S. 186, 216, 53 L.Ed.2d 683, 97 S.Ct. 2569 (1977) (quoting *International Shoe Co. v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310, 319, 90 L.Ed. 95, 66 S.Ct. 154 (1945). )Therefore, for due process to be satisfied, the following factors must co-exist:

- (1) The nonresident defendant or foreign corporation must purposefully do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state;
- (2) The cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and
- (3) The exercise of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice....

*Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 767, 783 P.2d 78 (1989). That a non-resident's act had some impact in Washington is not alone sufficient under the Constitution to exercise personal jurisdiction. The plaintiff must present evidence that the defendant purposefully conducted activities in the state "invoking the benefits and protections of our laws." *Raymond v. Robinson*, 104 Wn. App. 627,637 15 P.3d 697 (2001).

General jurisdiction is appropriate when a nonresident defendant is "transacting substantial and continuous business within the state of such a character as to give rise to legal obligation." *Raymond v. Robinson*, 104 Wn. App. 627,633 15 P.3d 697 (2001).

To assert specific jurisdiction under RCW 4.28.185(1)(a), the facts must show that a defendant "purposefully did some act or consummated some transaction in" Washington, and that the plaintiff's alleged injuries arose from that act. *Raymond v.*

*Robinson*, 104 Wn. App. 627, 637, 15 P.3d 697 (2001). These inquiries cannot be satisfied on the record in this case.

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