# SUPREME COURT NO. 694138 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 89867-7

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

### JACKSON MIKA,

Plaintiff/Respondent/Petitioner,

v.

JBC ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS INC., a corporation doing business in the State of Washington; JBC OF SEATTLE, WA, INC., a Washington; business, a subsidiary of JBC ENTERTAINMENT HOLDINGS INC.; MARQUIS HOLMES, an individual, dba BOSS LIFE ENTERTAINMENT; JANE DOE, husband and wife, and their community; GREG STEVENS, an individual, husband and wife, and their community; TONY HUMPHREYS, husband and wife, and their community,

Defendants/Appellants/Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

# V. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Mika's petition does not specify any ground for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3), in essence pleading that this Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) based on an argument raised for the first time.

RAP 13.4(b), which governs this Court's grant or denial of petitions for review, provides:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

Mr. Mika does not claim that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with the decision of this Court or another division of the Court of Appeals or specify in their statement of the issues any published opinion as being in direct conflict with this case. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Nor does Mika assert that this case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. Neither the words "Constitution" nor "Constitutional" appear anywhere in the petition, and there is no argument that either the Washington or United States Constitution is implicated here. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Mr. Mika asserts only that his petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, RAP13.4(b)(4), even though the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished, and Mr. Mika otherwise makes no compelling case to invoke this Court's exercise of discretionary review.

In essence, Mr. Mika merely wants to correct a perceived error by the Court of Appeals, which is not a ground for review.

RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global

in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook §27.11 (1998).

Mr. Mika's argument boils down to this: The Court of Appeals failed to consider an unstated argument that Mr. Stevens did not meet his burden on summary judgment before the trial court, because Mr. Stevens failed to explain why approximately six visits to Washington State over a 10 year period did not raise an issue of fact regarding his challenge to the Court's jurisdiction in the case.

This argument falls by its own weight. It is directed at a dispute over the record in this case, with no precedential value considering the claimed procedural errors of the appellate court. Mr. Mika falls well short of establishing a "compelling need to have the issue or issues presented globally." *Id.* In fact, Mr. Mika raises his core argument for the first time in this petition, pointing to nothing in the record that shows that he ever made that argument either to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals.

B. Mr. Mika's Petition fails to note that the argument he now advances to this Court was not raised before either the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court may refuse to review

any claim or error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). A failure to preserve a claim or error by presenting it first to the trial court generally means the issue is waived. While an appellate court retains the discretion whether to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal, such discretion is rarely exercised. *Karlberg v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 531-32, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012), *citing Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405 v. Lee*, 70 Wn.2d 947, 950, 425 P.2d 902 (1967).

Mr. Mika argues that under *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (overruled on other grounds), Mr. Stevens raised issues of fact when he admitted to visiting Washington approximately six times within a 10-year period. However, Mr. Mika never offered this argument before the trial court or the Court of Appeals. Appendix C, CP 515; Plaintiff Response to Summary Judgment; Appendix D, *Mika v. Stevens*, et. al, Court of Appeals, Respondent's Brief.

Had he done so, Mr. Stevens would have argued that the record clearly established that these visits had nothing to do with the security policy at Jillian's in Seattle, and the court could therefore draw no permissible inference material to its analysis of Mr. Mika's jurisdictional claims. The policy requiring that arguments be raised before the trial court give the opposing party notice to rebut the argument and to allow the trial court to rule. Neither Mr. Stevens nor the Court of Appeals was

given an opportunity to do so with regard to Mr. Mika's new theory.

C. Mr. Stevens's declaration stating that he had been to Washington approximately six times in a 10-year period would not raise an issue of fact as to Mika's theories on jurisdiction.

Mr. Mika erroneously assumes that Mr. Stevens's statement that he visited Washington approximately six times in a ten year period would raise an issue of fact and thereby defeat his challenge to the court's exercise of jurisdiction over him. The argument fails because the record clearly explains that these visits had nothing to do with security at Jillian's in Seattle, which is Mr. Mika's principal claim in the case. The argument also fails to apply the law governing the exercise of general or specific jurisdiction. A cursory understanding of each could confirm that six visits to a state over a 10-year period does not establish jurisdiction for a tort claim unrelated to those visits.

General personal jurisdiction exists where a defendant's contacts with a foreign state are so substantial, continuous and systematic as to render the defendant essentially at home there. *Goodyear v. Dunlop Tires Operation, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. 2846, 2851; 180 L.Ed.2d 796 (2011). The test for general jurisdiction is "an exacting standard, as it should be, because a finding of general jurisdiction permits a defendant to be hauled into court in the foreign state for any of its

activities anywhere in the world." Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 F.3d 797, 801 (9th Cir. 2004). Even a showing that a defendant has systematic business contacts with the forum is insufficient. Bancroft & Masters, Inc. v. August Nat'l., Inc., 223 F.3d 1082, 1085-86 (9th Cir. 2000). The plaintiff must show that the defendant's activities transcend doing business "with" the forum state such that it is fair to say that it is actually doing business "in" the forum state. See RCW 4.28.080(10); Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 417-18, 104 S.Ct. 1868, 80 L.Ed.2d 404 (1984). Furthermore, the plaintiff must demonstrate that a non-resident defendant was carrying on substantial and continuous business when plaintiff was injured. See IM EX Trading Co. v. Rand, 92 Wn. App. 529, 537, 963 P.2d 952 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1023, 980 P.2d 1280 (1989) (emphasis added).

Exercising specific personal jurisdiction requires a case-by-case analysis of whether an individual defendant has sufficient minimum contact with the foreign state. *Freestonal Partners, L.P. v. MKA Real Estate Opportunity Fund I, LLC*, 155 Wn. App. 643, 653, 230 P.3d 625 (2010). Washington courts may exercise specific personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant when the defendant's contacts actually give rise to the cause of action. RCW 4.28.185; *CTVC of Haw Co. v. Shinawatra*, 82 Wn. App. 699, 709, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996), *rev. denied* 131

Wn.2d 1020, 937 P.2d 1102 (1997). Mr. Mika must prove that exercise of jurisdiction satisfies constitutional due process by demonstrating:

- (1) The nonresident defendant or foreign corporation must **purposefully** do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state:
- (2) the cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and
- (3) the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, consideration being given to the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state, the relative convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation.

SeaHAVN, Ltd. v. Glitnir Bank, 154 Wash. App. 550, 564, 226 P.3d 141 (2010) (emphasis added).

Under either analysis, six visits in a 10-year period to a foreign state unrelated to the tort claim does not establish an issue of fact as to jurisdiction. The record before the Court of Appeals is clear that Mr. Stevens did not take part in setting policy regarding security and was not involved in the event that led to Mr. Mika's injuries.

# The Court of Appeals held:

There is no indication in the record that Stevens was involved with any of the allegedly tortuous conduct. Stevens, as chief executive officer and chief financial officer, was responsible for the overall profitability of JBC Holdings, not day-to-day operations, including policies and procedures. While he had knowledge of some of the safety and security policies, there is no evidence in the record that

Stevens was personally responsible for creating or implementing the policies. Stevens testified that "in a raw context, the 'policies and procedures' it's my expectation that Tyler [Warfield] is managing those, and overseeing, and making sure that we're adhering to those.

Mika, 69413-8-I, slip op. at 9-10.

Mr. Mika argues for an inference regarding Mr. Stevens's visits that leads to no material fact regarding the court's exercise of jurisdiction.

In matters of proof, the existence of facts may not be inferred from mere possibilities. *Mejin v. Seattle*, 40 Wn. App. 414, 421, 698 P.2d 615 (1985) (quoting *Sanchez v. Haddocks*, 95 Wn.2d 593, 599, 627 P.2d 1312 (1981)). This is precisely what Mr. Mika seeks by raising this new argument now – the speculation that the visits possibly raise issues of fact, not any showing that they actually create an inference of material fact.

The statement does not establish general jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens. The visits, by themselves, do not establish Mr. Stevens was a resident of the State of Washington. It is undisputed that he was a resident of Kentucky and then Nevada. The visits establish only that he does not reside in Washington and visited only sporadically. The Court cannot find that the visits alone establish general jurisdiction.

Nor does this evidence establish specific jurisdiction. Mr. Mika cannot show that the cause of action would "arise from" or "be connected with" these visits. Mr. Stevens was not involved in the event at which

Mr. Mika was injured and did not set security policy. Therefore, none of the visits were related to the event when Mr. Mika was injured. None of the trips were related to setting security policies, which is the underlying theory of Mr. Stevens's liability. There is no material fact that can be inferred from these visits.

# D. The Court of Appeals in its unpublished opinion performed a de novo review and found that Mr. Mika failed to present evidence establishing jurisdiction.

Mr. Stevens asked Division I to apply de novo review just as Mr. Mika demands in the present Petition for Review. The Court of Appeals was also well aware that Mr. Mika had the burden of establishing jurisdictional facts with prima facie evidence. *Mika*, slip op. at 5-6 (citing *CTVC of Hawaii*, 82 Wn. App. at 707-08). The Court of Appeals even noted Mr. Stevens's admission that he had visited Washington on six prior occasions. *Id.* at 6. In so doing, the Court of Appeals reviewed the evidence before the trial court and specifically found no evidence that would establish a *prima facie* case supporting jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals in fact exercised de novo review by considering not only Mr. Mika's arguments on appeal, but the arguments emphasized in response to summary judgment before the trial court. The Court of Appeals noted:

Mika has failed to set forth any evidence whatsoever that Stevens engaged in substantial and continuous business in Washington. Stevens had traveled to Washington approximately six times and has no other contacts with the state. Because the Washington court may not exercise general personal jurisdiction over Stevens, Mika must put forth prima facie evidence of specific evidence via the longarm statute.

Mika, slip op. at 6.

The Court of Appeals in fact did engage in a de novo review and simply found the record provided by Mr. Mika wanting. Mr. Mika provided no facts showing Mr. Stevens's involvement in setting security policies or in the event that led to Mr. Mika's injuries in March 2010. Not only was the Court of Appeals correct in this assessment, but its review also turns on the specific record on this case, with no precedential value to other cases involving challenges to personal jurisdiction.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Defendant/Respondent Greg Stevens respectfully asks that the court deny Mr. Mika's Petition for Review. Mr. Mika fails to establish any of the bases for Supreme Court review listed under RAP 13.4(b). Mr. Mika seeks Supreme Court review based on a supposed "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4), but for two reasons, no such substantial public interest exists. First, the Court of Appeals' December 23, 2013 decision is unpublished, so that it affects only the parties to this action, not the public at large. Second, content of the Court of Appeals' decision and the record before this Court show that the decision was correct on its merits. Mr. Mika complains that the Court of Appeals failed

to perform a de novo review, but the Court of Appeals' decision shows that the court did perform a de novo review. The court found that the record before the trial court and the arguments made by Mr. Mika did not establish a prima facie case supporting jurisdiction. Mr. Stevens had no role in the March 21, 2010 incident in which Mr. Mika was injured, nor involvement in the setting of security policy at JBC in effect at the time of that incident. Mr. Mika, at no point in the record, rebuts this contention, instead relying on conjecture and argument that Mr. Stevens had a role in these policies, thereby subjecting himself to jurisdiction in the State of Washington.

Mr. Mika only now complains that the court failed to consider whether Mr. Stevens's statement that he had visited Washington approximately six times over a 10-year period would therefore give inference in establishing jurisdiction. However, there is no indication in the record that plaintiff made this argument to the trial court, let alone to the Court of Appeals. In any case, in its decision the Court of Appeals clearly made note of Mr. Stevens's statement that he had visited Washington approximately six times in a 10-year period. Mr. Mika cannot complain that the court failed to consider an argument that was neither raised before the trial court nor the Court of Appeals.

Finally, the Court of Appeals was correct in its decision reversing the order of the trial court. Mr. Mika failed to establish genuine factual disputes as to the court's jurisdiction over Mr. Stevens. The Court of Appeals' decision correctly noted a lack of such evidence on the record before it. The Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and therefore cannot have any broad application; that decision does not conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals or this Court.